IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

EDGEWORTH FAMILY TRUST;
AND AMERICAN GRATING, LLC,
Appellants,

vs.

DANIEL S. SIMON; THE LAW
OFFICE OF DANIEL S. SIMON,
Respondents,

Electronically Filed
Jan 27 2022 05:36 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court
Supreme Court Case No. 83258
Consolidated with 83260

Dist. Ct. Case No. A-18-767242-C
Consolidated with A-16-738444-C

EDGEWORTH APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Steve Morris, Bar No. 1543
Rosa Solis-Rainey, Bar No. 7921
MORRIS LAW GROUP
801 South Rancho Dr., Ste. B4
Las Vegas, NV 89106
Phone: 702-474-9400
Fax: 702-474-9422
sm@morrislawgroup.com
rsr@morrislawgroup.com

RULE 26.1 DISCLOSURE

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellants timely appealed from the June 18, 2021 order of the district court denying their motion, styled "Plaintiff's Renewed Motion for Reconsideration of April 19, 2021 Third-Amended Decision" that refused to comply with the mandate of this Court expressed in its Order of December 30, 2020 (Remittitur Issued April 13, 2021) in Case Nos. 77678/78176, (AA0879 – 85)¹ and the underlying April 19, 2021 order. AA0564-88.

¹ This June 18, 2021 Third Amended Decision and Order of the district court could be potentially confusing because of the district court's issuance of orders prior to remittitur when it did not have jurisdiction. AA0879 - 85; *see Buffington v. State*, 110 Nev. 124, 126, 868 P.2d 643, 644 (1994); Nev. Rev. Stat. 177.155; Nev. Rev. Stat. 177.305. For example, the court's April 19, 2021 order (AA0564 -88), pertinent to this appeal, merely republished a void order on attorney fees that had been issued *sua sponte* without jurisdiction and without consideration of this Court's mandate to reconsider the award of attorney fees to Respondent Simon under the *Brunzell v. Golden Gate Nat. Bank*, 85 Nev. 345, 350, 455 P.2d 31, 33 (1969) factors. Because these earlier orders were void for lack of jurisdiction, the Edgeworths' effort to present that *Brunzell* issue on remand to the district court, as this Court directed, was styled "Motion for Reconsideration of Third Amended Decision and Order on Motion to Adjudicate Lien." That motion was the Edgeworths' *first effort* to bring to the district court's attention that she had not responded in her April 19, 2021 order to this Court's *Brunzell* mandate, which she also declined to do in her order of June 18, 2021 (AA0879 – 85), denying the Edgeworths' motion for reconsideration. As recognized by this Court's Order in this appeal dated December 13, 2021, at page 4, note 1, although the motion was imprudently captioned, this appeal challenges the district court's order adjudicating Simon's attorney lien on remand, without consideration of this Court's December order and remand, which

Appellants' notice of appeal was timely filed on July 17, 2021, AA0887 - 89) pursuant to the direct appeal provisions of Nev. R. App. P. 3A(b)(1). Therefore, this Court has appellate jurisdiction over all issues presented in this appeal.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

The Nevada Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Nev. R. App. P. 17(a)(12). The appeal arises out of the district court's failure, on remand, to adhere to this Court's mandate in Case Nos. 77678 and 78176. *Edgeworth Family Trust v. Simon*, 477 P.3d 1129 (Table) (unpublished) (Nev. 2020).

III. ISSUE PRESENTED

A. Did the district court err by wholly ignoring this Court's express mandate regarding the evidentiary basis under *Brunzell* to justify the quantum meruit award to respondent Simon for post-discharge services?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Daniel Simon represented the Edgeworth Appellants in a property damage case in 2016 and 2017 (referred to herein as "Viking" action) until "the Edgeworths constructively discharged him on November 29, 2017." Simon continued to work, however, for a brief time after his discharge.

is an appealable determination. *See Gumm v. Mainor*, 118 Nev. 912, 919, 59 P.3d 1220, 1225 (2002).

Prior to his discharge, Simon had billed the Edgeworths at the rate of \$550 per hour in four invoices from inception of his representation to September 29, 2017, for a total of \$367,606, which they paid along with almost \$115,000 in invoiced costs.

The terms to settle the Viking case were agreed to on November 15, 2017, and the Edgeworths asked Simon to provide any unpaid invoices for his services and costs. Rather than do that, he summoned the Edgeworths to his office to discuss a retainer agreement he had just prepared to give himself \$1.5 million beyond what they had already paid him for his services. AA0113 – 20. The Edgeworths refused to pay and retained the firm of Vannah & Vannah on November 29, 2017, to represent them. Simon then filed an attorney lien.

The district court adjudicated Simon's lien in 2018 and awarded him approximately \$285,000 for services rendered from September 19 to November 29, 2017, at his implied-contract rate of \$550 per hour and \$275 per hour for his associates. The district court also awarded Simon \$200,000 in quantum meruit for service he rendered for a short time after his discharge on November 29, 2017. An appeal by the Edgeworths followed.

On December 30, 2020, this Court decided the appeal and "vacat[ed] the district court's grant of \$200,000 in quantum meruit for post-discharge work and remand[ed] for the district court to make findings regarding the basis of its award." *Edgeworth Family Trust*, 477 P. 3d 1129 at *2 (2020). The Court said "it is unclear whether the \$200,000 [in quantum

meruit] is a reasonable amount to award for the work done after the constructive discharge." *Id.* The Court pointed out that the disputed award was based on findings "referencing work performed before the constructive discharge, for which Simon had already been compensated under the terms of the implied contract, [and] cannot form the basis of quantum meruit award." *Id.*

In her post-remand order of April 19, 2021 (reconsideration denied on June 18, 2021), the district court merely reiterated the findings that supported the award for services Simon performed *before* he was constructively discharged as the basis for the \$200,000 quantum meruit award for his *post*-discharge work. AA0581 – 85.

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. SUMMARY OF THE FACTS IN THE UNDERLYING APPEAL

The extensive facts underlying this and prior appeals are part of this Court's records. Nev. Sup. Ct. Case Nos. 77176, 77678, and 79821. They are only briefly summarized here.

Attorney Daniel S. Simon represented the Edgeworth Family Trust and American Grating, LLC (collectively referred to as the "Edgeworths") in a property damage action caused by a defective product (referred to as the "Viking" action). AA0549 – 50. This appeal, like the proceedings referenced in Nev. Sup. Ct. Case Nos. 77176, 77678, and 79821,

arise from attorney lien adjudication proceedings initiated by respondent Simon that followed settlement of that action.

In the prior appeals, this Court affirmed the district court's attorney lien adjudication and its finding that Simon was constructively discharged by the Edgeworths on November 29, 2017. *Edgeworth Family Trust*, 477 P.3d 1129 at *2. The Court remanded to the district court for it to explain, consistent with *Brunzell*, the basis for awarding Simon \$200,000 in quantum meruit for services rendered *post* discharge. *Id.* The Court pointed out that in arriving at \$200,000, the district court could not consider work done by Simon pre-discharge to arrive at the value of his post-discharge services. *Id.* With respect to the \$55,000 awarded for fees and costs under Nev. Rev. Stat. 18.010(2)(b) for unrelated motion practice, the Court directed the district court to demonstrate that it had considered the *Brunzell* factors in reaching its award of \$50,000 for fees incurred to dismiss the Edgeworths' conversion claim against Simon (*id.* at *4), which the court did and is not challenged in this appeal.² AA0844 - 47.

The district court ignored, however, the mandate with regard to the \$200,000 awarded for Simon's post-discharge work. Her April 19, 2021 amended order awarding the same \$200,000 in quantum meruit without providing **any** explanation of its basis or its reasonableness under *Brunzell* as this Court expressly directed the district court to do. AA0581 – 85. In fact,

² The district court also remitted the \$5,000 awarded in costs to \$2,520, the actual amount of costs incurred. 5/24/21 Order. AA0847.

the district court's *Brunzell* analysis in its April 19, 2021 order is *identical* to the order that was the subject of the prior appeal and rejected by this Court. AA0017 – 21. It is based on "work performed before [Simon's] constructive discharge, for which Simon had already been compensated under the terms of the implied contract, [which] cannot form the basis of a quantum meruit award." *Edgeworth Family Trust*, 477 P.3d 1129, at *2; compare AA0017 – 21 (*Brunzell* analysis in 11/19/18 order) with AA0581 – 85 (*Brunzell* analysis in 4/19/21 order, incorporated into the June 18, 2021 order denying reconsideration).

This appeal challenges the district court's failure to follow the Court's mandate and, particularly, its consideration of Simon's fully compensated pre-discharge services in determining the reasonable value of his very limited post-discharge services.

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

District Judge Tierra Jones erred in refusing to follow this Court's mandate to explain the reasonableness under *Brunzell* of the \$200,000 quantum meruit award to Simon for post-discharge services he provided to the Edgeworths. The district court's entire *Brunzell* analysis on remand focused entirely on pre-discharge work – in fact, the 2021 analysis post-remand is identical to the district court's 2018 analysis that this Court rejected. AA0581 – 85. In her post-remand order of April 19, 2021, the district court tacked on one paragraph to her rejected order, apparently in an

attempt to respond to the Court's mandate regarding the reasonableness of the quantum meruit award under *Brunzell*. AA0585. However, the explanation provided referenced the *pre*-discharge analysis. Thus the record before the court confirms that the \$200,000 awarded for *post*-discharge services is *not* reasonable under *Brunzell*.

VII. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court has previously and unequivocally held that "[w]hether the district court has complied with our mandate on remand is a question of law that we review de novo." *State Eng'r v. Eureka County*, 133 Nev. 557, 559, 402 P.3d 1249, 1251 (2017) (citing *Wheeler Springs Plaza, LLC v. Beemon*, 119 Nev. 260, 263, 71 P.3d 1258, 1260 (2003)). This Court's decision in the prior appeal that pre-termination services could not, under *Brunzell*, support the district court's quantum meruit award for post-termination services is now the law of the case, which the district court did not follow on remand. *Id.* (citing *LoBue v. State ex rel. Dep't of Highways*, 92 Nev. 529, 532, 554 P.2d 258, 260 (1976)). Because the district court clearly erred in entering an order that does not comply with this Court's mandate, the order should be reversed. *Id.*

VIII. ARGUMENT

A. THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD HAVE CONSIDERED ONLY SIMON'S POST-DISCHARGE WORK, WHICH SIMON HIMSELF PROVIDED TO THE COURT, IN DETERMINING A REASONABLE FEE FOR THAT WORK.

The district court was bound to follow this Court's December 30, 2020 Order on remand. *LoBue*, 92 Nev. at 532, 554 P.2d at 260. The district court failed to do so, thus giving rise to this second appeal. In its December 30 Order, the Court specifically held that "[w]hile the district court stated that it was applying the *Brunzell* factors for work performed only after the constructive discharge, *much of its analysis focused on Simon's work throughout the litigation.*" *Edgeworth Family Trust*, 477 P.3d 1129 at *2 (emphasis added). That defect remains.

In its Order remanding this issue, the Court said: "referencing work performed before the constructive discharge, for which Simon had already been compensated under the terms of the implied contract, cannot form the basis of a quantum meruit award." *Id.* Yet the district court did just that. Its order on remand is identical to the order that was appealed in 2018, save for one paragraph tacked on at the end:³

In determining this amount of a reasonable fee, the Court must consider the work that the Law Office continued to provide on the Edgeworth's case, even after the constructive discharge. The record is clear that the Edgeworths were ready to sign and

³ The district court also added eight non-substantive paragraphs that merely set out the appellate history. AA0569 - 70, ¶¶26 – 33; compare with AA0006 (Findings of Fact end at ¶26).

settle the Lange claim for \$25,000 but Simon kept working on the case and making changes to the settlement agreement. This resulted in the Edgeworth's recovering an additional \$75,000 from Lange plumbing. Further, the Law Office of Daniel Simon continued to work on the Viking settlement until it was finalized in December of 2017, and the checks were issued on December 18, 2017. Mr. Simon continued to personally work with Mr. Vannah to attempt to get the checks endorsed by the Edgeworths, and this lasted into the 2018 year. The record is clear that the efforts exerted by the Law Office of Daniel Simon and Mr. Simon himself were continuing, even after the constructive discharge. In considering the reasonable value of these services, under quantum meruit, *the Court is considering the previous \$550 per hour fee from the implied fee agreement, the Brunzell factors, and additional work performed after the constructive discharge.*

AA0585 (emphasis added). Although the district court again justified the award by stating that it considered the *Brunzell* factors, the *Brunzell* analysis in the post-remand order is identical to the one this Court rejected in the prior appeal for its reliance on pre-discharge services, and that contradicts the law of this case. *See Stacy v. Colvin*, 825 F.3d 563, 568 (9th Cir. 2016) ("district court commits error if subsequent order contradicts the appellate court's directions.").

The district court also ignored the guidance this Court offered. Specifically, the Court pointed out that "[a]lthough there is evidence in the record that Simon . . . performed work after the constructive discharge, the district court did not explain how it used that evidence to calculate its award." *Edgeworth Family Trust*, 477 P.3d 1129 at *2. On remand, the district court still did not use this evidence to explain how the work performed *after* the constructive discharge was used to calculate the same \$200,000 award that the district court previously entered. *See* AA0581 – 85. A review of that evidence demonstrates that even if all of the post-

discharge work detailed by Simon is credited and the implied contract rate is considered as the district court said, the reasonable value of that work is no more than \$34,000, as the Edgeworths pointed out to an unreceptive district court. *See* AA0680 – 84; AA0686 – 88; AA0689 – 94. Specifically, the record demonstrates that Simon claims to have expended a total of 71.10 hours (51.85 for Simon and 19.25 for his associate) for post-discharge work. AA0694; *see also* AA0680 – 84; AA0686 – 88. These hours, if reasonable, times the rates in the implied contract justify fees of \$33,811.25. AA0694. The \$200,000 award reiterated by the district court is *more than six times that amount* and values the 71.10 hours at more than **\$2,800 per hour**.⁴ AA0602. This amount is facially unreasonable; nothing in the district court's *Brunzell* analysis in its April 19, 2021 order explains otherwise.

Much of Simon's post-discharge work was administrative in nature, which did not require special skills to perform. AA0680 – 84; AA0686 – 88; AA0689 – 94. His post-discharge work can be summarized as follows:

SUMMARY OF POST-DISCHARGE WORK BILLED BY SIMON LAW	
Administrative tasks re Lange Settlement (co-defendant in Viking action)	21.55
Administrative tasks re Viking Settlement, including one hearing	26.65
Preparation of Attorney Lien	4.85
Opening Bank Account & Depositing Settlement Checks	7.25
Undetermined - not sufficient description	10.80

See AA0694.

⁴ \$200,000 / 71.10 = \$2,812.94.

Over seven hours to open a single two-signature bank account at a local bank is not reasonable (AA0692 green entries); nor is charging nearly five hours to the client for preparing a short perfunctory attorney's lien. AA0693 – 94 (pink entries). And though Simon claims to have worked on the Viking settlement for over 26 hours and the Lange settlement for over 21 hours, the partial file he provided does not have any substantive correspondence or email on these subjects, calling into question whether this work was actually performed.⁵

The district court's own findings demonstrate that the post-discharge services Simon provided with respect to the Viking settlement were limited at best because the settlement was signed on December 1, 2017, two days after the court found Simon had been discharged. *See* AA0009:27 – AA0010:1 ("the [previously] negotiated terms [of the Viking settlement] were put into a final release signed by the Edgeworths and Mr. Vannah's office on December 1, 2017"); at AA0010:2-4 ("Mr. Simon's name is not contained in the release; Mr. Vannah's firm is expressly identified as the firm that solely advised the clients about the settlement."); at AA0010:14-16 ("Simon was not present at the signing of these settlement documents and never explained any of the terms to the Edgeworths").

Simon's own testimony and documents demonstrate that the post-discharge work was minimal at best. His unequivocal testimony before

⁵ Simon's refusal to turn over the Edgeworths complete client file will be separately addressed by way of a writ petition.

the district court was that all of the settlement negotiations were complete before the discharge date found by the court. AA0655 (testifying terms of settlement were "hammered out" . . . "before he was fired"); AA0653-54 (placing the date of these negotiations at 11/27/17). Simon emailed the "proposed" Viking settlement agreement to the Edgeworths at 8:39 a.m. on November 30, 2022 (AA0627), approximately an hour before he learned the Edgeworths had retained Vannah to assist them with finalizing the settlement. AA0624 - 25. Simon emailed the "final" draft of the settlement agreement at 5:31 p.m. that same day. AA0635. The Viking settlement was signed the next day. AA0009:27 – AA0010:1 And although his November 30th email said he spent "substantial time" negotiating terms in the few hours between his conversation with a Vannah attorney and his 5:31 p.m. email, those efforts are not credible given repeated and un-contradicted testimony to the district court that all negotiations were complete by November 27, 2017. AA0655. The "superbill" Simon submitted to the court (AA0680 – 84 and AA0686 – 88) includes time he claims he and his firm spent on negotiations he clearly testified had been completed days previously. AA0655. But even if this questionable work is considered, it is included in the 71.10 post-discharge hours Simon claims to have worked and thus does not change the fact he is not entitled to more than \$34,000 for that work. *See* AA680 - 81; AA00686; AA0690.

The Lange settlement was also fully negotiated by November 30, 2017 (A0635), which the district court found was signed on December 7,

2017, just eight days after Simon's discharge. AA0006 ¶23; AA00010:26 - 11:5 ("... it was established that the Law Firm of Vannah and Vannah provided advice to the Edgeworths regarding the Lange claim. Simon and ... Vannah gave different advice on the Lange claim, and the Edgeworths followed the advice of ... Vannah to settle the Lange claim. The Law Firm of Vannah and Vannah drafted the consent to settle for the claims against Lange Plumbing").

The district court should have considered the evidence in the record (AA0680 – 84; AA0686 – 88) and explained how she used that evidence to determine the reasonableness and value of Simon's post-discharge work at \$2,800 per hour. *See also* AA0689 – 94. Even ignoring the fact that some of the time Simon billed as post-discharge work is facially unreasonable, the district court does not explain how an award that is six times the calculated value of the alleged services performed -- based on the rates she says she considered – is reasonable under *Brunzell*. Merely stating that she considered the *Brunzell* factors is not sufficient to show how she did so to justify paying Simon \$2,800 per hour, especially when the analysis the district court set forth in her post-remand order is nothing more than her analysis for Simon's pre-discharge work. AA0581 - 85.

The Court should reverse the district court's findings and instruct her to enter an order awarding no more than \$34,000 for Simon's post-discharge services.

IX. CONCLUSION

The Edgeworths respectfully ask this Court to REVERSE and VACATE the district court's order awarding Simon \$200,000 in quantum meruit and instruct her to enter an order for no more than the \$34,000 supported by the post-discharge work Simon himself submitted for the record.

MORRIS LAW GROUP