#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

EDGEWORTH FAMILY TRUST; AND AMERICAN GRATING, LLC

Petitioners.

VS.

DANIEL S. SIMON; AND THE LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL S. SIMON, A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION,

Respondents.

Supreme Court Case No 83758d
Consolidated with 8236022 02:09 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court
(District Court A-18-767242-C
Consolidated with
A-16-738444-C)

###

18. That the Edgeworths were made "more than whole" from their portion of the Viking settlement and suffered no damages as alleged in their complaints.

19. The declaratory relief action was decided by the Court as part of the evidentiary hearing and is now moot.

The Law Office requests an opportunity to submit additional findings of fact and conclusions of law when the transcript becomes available and to address the testimony of Angela Edgeworth. The Law Office thanks the Court and its staff for its careful consideration and time devoted to this matter.

Dated this 24<sup>th</sup> day of September, 2018.

\_/s/ Peter S. Christiansen\_

Peter S. Christiansen, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 5254

# **CHRISTIANSEN LAW OFFICES**

810 S. Casino Center Blvd., Ste. 104 Las Vegas, NV 89101 (702)240-7979 -and-James R. Christensen Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 3861

JAMES R. CHRISTENSEN PC

601 S. 6<sup>th</sup> Street Las Vegas NV 89101 (702) 272-0406 Attorneys for SIMON

I					
1 2	ROBERT D. VANNAH, ESQ. Nevada Bar. No. 002503 JOHN B. GREENE, ESQ.				
3	Nevada Bar No. 004279 VANNAH & VANNAH				
4	400 South Seventh Street, 4 <sup>th</sup> Floor				
5	Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Telephone: (702) 369-4161				
6	Facsimile: (702) 369-0104  jgreene@vannahlaw.com				
7					
8	Attorneys for Plaintiffs				
9	DISTRICT COURT				
10	CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA				
11	EDGEWORTH FAMILY TRUST; AMERICAN GRATING, LLC,	CASE NO.: A-18-767242-C DEPT NO.: XIV			
12	Plaintiffs,	Consolidated with			
13	riamuns,				
14	VS.	CASE NO.: A-16-738444-C DEPT. NO.: X			
15	DANIEL S. SIMON; THE LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL S. SIMON, A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION; DOES I through X, inclusive,	PLAINTIFFS' CLOSING ARGUMENT			
16 17	and ROE CORPORATIONS I through X, inclusive,				
18	Defendants.				
19					
20	Plaintiffs EDGEWORTH FAMILY TRUST and AMERICAN GRATING, LLC				
21	(PLAINTIFFS), by and through their attorneys of record, ROBERT D. VANNAH, ESQ., and JOHN				
22	B. GREENE, ESQ., of the law firm VANNAH & VANNAH, hereby submit these closin				
23	arguments in support of their common sense arguments affirming an oral agreement between th				
24	Simon Defendants (SIMON) and PLAINTIFFS.				
25	All of the reasons and the evidence necessary have been present all along (in Brief				
26	Oppositions; Exhibits; etc.) for this Court to comfortably find that an oral contract exists for the				
27	payment of attorney's fees (and costs) to SIMON in return for services rendered to PLAINTIFFS				
28	payment of attorney's fees (and costs) to SIMON i	in return for services rendered to PLAINTIFFS			

Likewise, everything relevant points to the fact that the agreed to hourly rate for SIMON is \$550 per hour, and the rate for his two associates is \$275 per hour. Too much time and effort have been spent by SIMON to attempt to obscure what is self-evident. SIMON'S efforts to obscure began on November 17, 2017, in the infamous meeting in his office, and continued unabated until the late afternoon of September 18, 2018. The time has come to put an end to his charade.

## WHAT IT'S NOT ABOUT: ANY FORM OF A CONTINGENCY FEE

On that note, let's be clear on what this isn't all about—a contingency fee in any amount or form, be it at law or in equity. In speaking directly to contingency fees, the Supreme Court of Nevada adopted Nevada Rule of Professional Responsibility 1.5(c), which succinctly states:

(c) A fee may be contingent on the outcome of the matter for which the service is rendered, except in a matter in which a contingent fee is prohibited by paragraph (d) or other law. A contingent fee agreement shall be in writing, signed by the client, and shall state, in boldface type that is at least as large as the largest type used in the contingent fee agreement. (Emphasis added.)

"Shall" is a strong word. Because of that, everyone agrees that there isn't—and that there can't be—a contingency fee agreement here. Rule 1.5(c) requires that a contingency fee agreement be in writing, and SIMON never reduced any fee agreement to writing, even though Rule 1.5(b) alerted him that written fee agreements are preferred and that they should discuss the scope of the representation and the rate of the fee. SIMON also admitted in his letter to PLAINTIFFS dated November 27, 2017 (PLAINTIFFS Exhibit 04-0006), that: "I realize I don't have a contract in place for percentages and I am not trying to enforce one...."

Since the parties admit that this case is not about an effort to enforce a contingency fee agreement, since the Rules would prohibit SIMON from enforcing one even if he wanted to, and since SIMON admits that he's not trying to enforce something based on "percentages", there isn't a factual or legal basis to even consider bestowing a fee upon SIMON that has any nexus to a percentage. Yet that's exactly the scheme that SIMON is selling to this Court by asking for a

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

percentage of the Viking settlement via quantum meruit. PLAINTIFFS strongly object to the use and application of this doctrine, as the oral agreement for fees has been in force and effect since June of 2016. Pursuant to the oral agreement for fees, SIMON'S rate is \$550 per hour. And, PLAINTIFFS never terminated SIMON, regardless of the theory pitched by him. Therefore, there's no legal or factual basis to retreat to the equitable remedy of quantum meruit.

Assuming for a nanosecond that quantum meruit has a place (in the corner of a very dark and secure room in a place far, far away where the law, common sense, and decency no longer exist in any measurable quantity), it is easily and forcefully dismissed here. As this Court is well aware, quantum meruit is an equitable remedy. In order for SIMON to qualify for an equitable remedy, his hands must be clean. SIMON'S hands on this topic are completely soiled, and all by his own doing.

How can SIMON admit to his clients and this Court that he's not seeking a fee based on a percentage (as in a contingency fee based on a percentage of the Viking settlement), then turn around and assert that he should get a percentage of PLAINTIFFS recovery based on quantum meruit? And proclaim that it should be 40%? That's the amount of SIMON'S Amended Lien. (P's Exhibit 07-0001-0002.) Isn't that the poster child percentage of a contingency fee? How can SIMON admit that he never reduced any fee agreement to writing, thus precluding the recovery of any contingency fee under Rule 1.5(c), then demand one from his clients—PLAINTIFFS—in a tension-filled meeting in his office and ask for one from this Court in equity? In other words, how can SIMON get in equity what he failed by his own admission per Rule 1.5(c) to obtain at law? The legal and equitable dots do not connect.

Not only does this cast a long shadow over SIMON'S credibility, it is a classic example of the Invited Error Doctrine in action, where SIMON is brazenly seeking to profit from "errors on which he himself induced or provoked." *Pearson v. Pearson*, 110 Nev. 293, 297, 871 P.2d 343, 345 (1993). That cannot be allowed to happen, as the law does not allow it. Since the front door to a

3

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

21

contingency fee has been slammed shut by the admissions of the parties, and also locked tight by the law, there's no reasonable, evidentiary, or legal basis for this Court to entertain SIMON'S request for a backdoor/sidedoor remedy of additional fees in quantum meruit based on a percentage of anything.

#### WHAT IT IS ALL ABOUT: AN ORAL AGREEMENT FOR AN HOURLY FEE OF \$550

While this case isn't about any argument for, or right to, a fee based on a percentage of a recovery, it is all about an oral agreement for fees. Rule 1.5(b) states:

(b) The scope of the representation and the basis or rate of the fee and expenses for which the client will be responsible shall be communicated to the client, preferably in writing, before or within a reasonable time after commencing the representation, except when the lawyer will charge a regularly represented client on the same basis or rate. Any changes in the basis or rate of the fee or expenses shall also be communicated to the client. (Emphasis added.)

There is ample evidence in this case that the parties created an oral agreement for fees, whereby SIMON agreed to receive \$550 per hour for his time for services performed and PLAINTIFFS agreed to pay SIMON \$550 per hour for his time and effort. Brian Edgeworth (Brian) testified that he and SIMON agreed on that rate when it became clear in early June of 2016 that SIMON would need to file a complaint to get any relief for PLAINTIFFS. Brian also testified that SIMON explained at that time that this rate was reasonable because judges in other proceedings had approved that amount.

Angela Edgeworth (Angela) and Brian also testified that despite some initial hesitancy in keeping SIMON as their attorney (with his relatively high hourly rate and relative inexperience), they decided it was in their best interest to do so. Oddly and/or conveniently, SIMON testified that there was never a discussion about his fee and that he and PLAINTIFFS would agree on what a reasonable fee would be at the end of the case.

SIMON presented himself and testified that he is a very successful and ostensibly ethical lawyer. Yet, to believe SIMON'S testimony on this one point is to believe that he knowingly and

4

willingly violated Rule 1.5(b). Fortunately, there isn't a need to believe SIMON'S testimony on this one point or others), as there is a clear and bright conflict between what SIMON said on the stand versus what SIMON did from Day One. While SIMON'S words on the stand may (now) say "no" to an oral contract for fees, his prior words and deeds proclaim "yes!"

The evidence presented by the parties since this all began (in the late spring of 2016) shows that SIMON and PLAINTIFFS followed with exactness the terms of their oral contract for fees from June of 2016 until November 17, 2017...when SIMON decided he wouldn't. Compelling evidence in favor of SIMON'S <u>deeds</u> that support the clear existence of the oral contract for fees is first found in the four invoices (P's Exhibit 02-0001 through 0031) sent by SIMON to, and paid in full by, PLAINTIFFS. It's also found in the super bill (P's Exhibit 05-0001 through 0183) SIMON attached to his Motion to Adjudicate.

This evidence shows that from SIMON'S first (undated) billing entry for 1.75 hours entitled "Initial Meeting with Client" through SIMON'S last dated billing entry of January 8, 2018, for 2.5 hours entitled "Travel to Bank of Nevada 2x re Trust deposit," SIMON billed every task for every entry on every page on each invoice at \$550 per hour. Simple math shows that over 225 entries on his first four invoices and more than 1,815 entries on his super bill are all billed at \$550 per hour. SIMON never deviated from billing that rate, not once, not even after he claimed to PLAINTIFFS on November 17, 2017, that he was worth far more than he was getting paid, that he deserved a percentage of the recovery, and that he expected something else.

A second example where SIMON'S deeds and lack of words articulate his understanding of the contractual nature of things (more clearly than does his tongue on the stand) comes from the events in and after San Diego in August of 2017. Brian testified that he and SIMON discussed modifying the agreement for fees while sitting in a bar waiting for a flight back home. He also testified that options were discussed, such as a hybrid contingency agreement, a straight contingency

agreement, or to continue on an hourly basis. Brian testified that he asked for a proposal from SIMON on how to modify the existing oral agreement for fees, but that SIMON didn't offer one.

Then, on August 22, 2017, the evidence shows that Brian again reached out to SIMON, this time via email, to get a proposal from him on perhaps changing the oral agreement for fees. (P's Exhibit 03-0001.) By that time, SIMON had sent, and PLAINTIFFS had paid in full, three invoices for fees and costs totaling \$231,266.84, all billed at \$550 for SIMON (and \$275 for his associates). In that email entitled "Contingency," and as corroborated through Brian's testimony, Brian reminded SIMON that they "never really had a structured discussion about how this might be done." The "this" in that unstructured discussion, per Brian's testimony and the evidence, is changing how SIMON would be paid, from hourly to a contingency, or to something else. We know that's the case from what is clearly reflected in the next sentence from Brian, where he writes: "I am more than happy to keep paying hourly...." (Ex. 03-0001.)

After receiving this email from Brian and mulling over his options, what were SIMON'S words and deeds in response? For one, failing to reply to the email, sending the message loud and clear that he didn't favor changing the deal on the payment of his fees by the hour at the agreed to rate. For another, and most telling, SIMON then sent PLAINTIFFS the fourth invoice for \$255,186.25, which included \$183,631.25 in fees, all billed at \$550 per hour. For all factual intents and legal purposes, SIMON rejected the option to change what was agreed to and instead continued on the path where PLAINTIFFS would "keep paying hourly."

A third example where SIMON made his intentions well known on the nature of his fee agreement with PLAINTIFFS, as well as how much was paid, is found in email correspondence prior to, and during the course of, Brian's deposition. In an email from SIMON to all counsel for the Viking and Lange Defendants dated January 4, 2017 (SIMONEH0004402), SIMON stated that: "My clients damages are increasing every day due to loans and attorney's fees and costs that he is

paying out of pocket." Can SIMON'S intent and understanding be expressed more clearly than that? On this point, SIMON was right—PLAINTIFFS damages were increasing everyday, namely from the \$550 per hour that SIMON was charging, and PLAINTIFFS were "paying out of pocket" in full, for SIMON'S services.

On September 29, 2017, Brian sat for his deposition. As the evidence clearly shows, lawyers for Viking and Lange were present. (P's Exhibit 06-0001 through 0003.) On pages 190-191 of that deposition, Brian was asked by Ms. Dalacas: "Is it your testimony that you've actually paid that full amount, \$518,396.99, to Mr. Simon's law office?" To that question, Brian responded: "If your math is correct, I paid that amount. If you math is wrong, then I haven't. I've paid every bill under "Legal" on this sheet...." The follow up question of Ms. Dalacas was as follows: "So there's no place that you could look for that information and tell me a number of attorneys fees that American Grating LLC has actually incurred prior to May of 2017?" At that juncture, SIMON had sat silent long enough and, as an officer of the court, had to make the truth known to all.

At page 271, lines 18-19, SIMON says: "They've all been disclosed to you." SIMON goes on to admit at lines 23-24: "The attorneys' fees and cost for both of these plaintiffs as a result of this claim have been disclosed to you long ago." SIMON puts a finer and final point on the topic of PLAINTIFFS hourly fees paid to him by declaring at page 272, lines 2-3: "And they've been updated as of last week." All of the attorney's fees referenced by SIMON to counsel for defendants in Brian's deposition were billed by SIMON at \$550 per hour.

At **no** point did SIMON ever say to counsel for the Defendants any words to the effect that: We've only disclosed a portion of both plaintiffs' fees and costs to you. Or, that more invoices for additional fees and costs will be disclosed by him soon. Or that he was going to be sifting through PLAINTIFFS invoices and our files and add time and fees that we haven't added or disclosed yet. Or that SIMON'S fees were being billed on a contingency basis, as opposed to hourly. Or anything

else for that matter to give notice or even an indication that every fee and cost incurred by SIMON to date hadn't been produced to Defendants.

A fourth example where SIMON also made his intentions well known on the nature of his fee agreement with PLAINTIFFS, as well as how much was paid, is found in the NRCP 16.1 disclosures and calculations of damages that SIMON produced to Defendants. Just like we see with SIMON'S admissions in Brian's deposition, all of PLAINTIFFS damages were required by rule to be produced to Defendants. Testimony confirmed that PLAINTIFFS damages included a claim for attorney's fees paid to SIMON, and each of the calculations of damages produced by SIMON to Defendants for fees billed and paid to SIMON by PLAINTIFFS was based on SIMON'S four invoices where his hourly rate is \$550 per hour for every entry.

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